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PENSION SCHEMES ACT 1993, PART X

DETERMINATION BY THE PENSIONS OMBUDSMAN
	Applicants
	:
	Mr G Matthews and Mr C Pearn

	Plan
	:
	Carkeek Limited Managed Pension Plan

	Respondent
	:
	Independent Trustee: HR Trustees Limited (HRTL)


MATTERS FOR DETERMINATION 
1. The Applicants say that HRTL failed to wind up the Plan in a timely and cost effective manner and that HRTL’s fees and other fees authorised by HRTL are excessive.  HRTL disputes the criticism and maintains that the fees incurred are justified.  
2. Some of the issues before me might be seen as complaints of maladministration while others can be seen as disputes of fact or law and indeed, some may be both.  I have jurisdiction over either type of issue and it is not usually necessary to distinguish between them.  This determination should therefore be taken to be the resolution of any disputes of facts or law and/or (where appropriate) a finding as to whether there had been maladministration and if so whether injustice has been caused.

JURISDICTION
3. HRTL, on legal advice, suggested that I should decline to investigate the matter on the basis that HRTL was entitled to the protection of the exoneration clause in Clause 18 of the Trust Deed dated 16 January 1984.  That clause says:
“No Trustee hereof shall be responsible, chargeable or liable in any manner whatsoever for or in respect of any loss of or any depreciation in or default upon any of the [Plan] Assets or for any delay which may occur from whatever cause in the investment of any moneys in forming part of the [Plan] Assets of for the safety of any securities or documents of title deposited by the Trustees for safe custody or for the exercise of any discretionary powers vested in the Trustees by this Deed or by the Rules including any act or omission by any person, persons or corporation appointed or employed by the Trustees under the provisions of Clause 16 [contains power to delegate, employ agents etc] hereof or by any reason of any other matter or thing except wilful default o the part of the Trustee who is sought to be made liable.”
4. HRTL contended that in the absence of prima facie evidence of wilful default by HRTL in failing to wind up the Plan in a timely and cost effective manner I should decline to investigate the Applicants’ complaints.

5. HRTL referred to the case of Alexander Forbes v Halliwell [2003] EWCH 1685 (Ch) where I had found that an independent trustee had delayed in the winding up of the scheme.  An exoneration clause protected the trustees from personal liability except in case of wilful default or wrongdoing.  I upheld Mr Halliwell’s complaint that the trustee had failed to complete the winding up of the scheme and the distribution of the surplus in a timely manner.  I directed the trustee pay to Mr Halliwell £500 as compensation for distress and inconvenience and that the costs of the winding up be deducted from the employer’s share of the surplus.  Both directions were set aside.  The Court held that although my interpretation of the exoneration clause was grammatically correct the intention was that the word “wilful” applied to wrong-doing as well as to default and so the trustee was entitled to the protection of the exoneration clause.  The provisions of that scheme did not require the costs of the winding up to be paid out of the employer’s share of the surplus and the distribution of the surplus was at the trustee’s discretion.    

6. HRTL also submitted that as its integrity and reputation has been called into question, fairness demanded that an oral hearing be held.  
7. The Applicants countered that if HRTL had charged for work not done or unnecessary work then that would amount to dishonesty and/or breach of trust.  The Applicants agreed that an oral hearing might ultimately prove necessary but said that I should first undertake what they termed a “desktop audit” to establish whether there had been dishonesty or breach of trust or maladministration and, if the latter, whether HRTL was entitled to seek the protection of the indemnity clause.

8. This application is made by two trustees against their co trustee, HRTL.  Trustees can refer a dispute of fact or law that they have with other trustees of the same scheme so long as the dispute is referred by at least half of them.  The Applicants’ concerns as to the level of fees incurred and whether HRTL ought to have authorised their payment involve such a dispute in the sense of determining the lawfulness of the fees charged or authorised.  

9. Trustees cannot themselves make a complaint alleging that injustice has been caused by maladministration by other trustees of the same scheme.  However the Applicants are also members of the Scheme and so can bring such a complaint in that capacity.

10. For the reasons I have set out in the two previous paragraphs the application falls within my jurisdiction. Whether I should accept the complaint for investigation and whether thereafter I should discontinue my investigation are decisions which lie within my discretion rather than matters of jurisdiction.  
11. I was not persuaded that the existence of an exoneration clause should cause me to decline to investigate the complaint. Even if, at the end of the day, the exoneration clause may mean that the Respondents cannot be called upon to provide financial redress there could be benefit- both to the parties and to the public-- in the matter being investigated. An investigation will provide the parties with a view as to whether the actions of the Independent Trustee were lawful and did or did not involve maladministration on their part. If there has been something amiss and if redress cannot be provided by the exoneration clause, then there is a benefit to the public in making that known both so that others can judge whether to make use of the paid services of the particular trustee in the future and also so that the Government and Parliament can consider whether that is a situation which should result in a change in the law.  Thus I notified the parties of my decision to continue to investigate the matter.

MATERIAL FACTS

Background
12. The Plan was established by a Trust Deed with Rules dated 16 January 1984 as the Carkeek and Sons Limited Managed Pension Plan.  Mr Pearn was one of the original trustees.  Carkeek and Sons Limited changed its name to Carkeek Limited (the Company) with effect from 20 June 1995.  The name of the Scheme was altered correspondingly by a deed dated 12 March 1996.  Mr Matthews became a trustee from 22 December 1997. 

13. Clause 12 of the Trust Deed sets out how the trustees are to apply the assets of the Plan and says:
“Firstly:-

in paying and discharging as and when the same shall fall due all necessary expenses incurred by them in or about the execution and carrying out of the trusts and provisions of this Deed and any tax and duty for which they may be accountable;”
14. An Administrative Receiver was appointed to the Company on 15 January 2001.  Pursuant to section 23(1)(b) of the Pensions Act 1995 as then in force the Receiver appointed HRTL as independent trustee of the Scheme from 29 March 2001.  The Applicants continued as co-trustees.  An independent trustee appointed under section 23(1)(b) is entitled to be paid (out of the Scheme’s resources) his reasonable fees for acting in that capacity and any expenses reasonably incurred in do doing.  In a letter to the Applicants dated 5 April 2001 HRTL said that its fees would be by reference to the time spent by its employees and the then current hourly rates for various grades of staff were set out.  

15. The Company went into liquidation on 22 June 2001.

16. At a trustees’ meeting on 26 June 2001 it was agreed that HRTL would seek advice as to whether the Plan should continue (as a closed scheme) or commence winding up.  It was agreed that the draft trustees- report and accounts for the year ended 31 May 2001 were to be prepared by the end of July 2001 and that the trustees should seek investment advice in August 2001.  
17. The next trustees’ meeting was on 11 September 2001.  Shortly before the meeting the then Plan Actuary (Graham Orr of Winterthur Life (Winterthur)) advised that as he would be unable to continue to act from the end of the year the trustees might want to appoint a replacement, unless the Plan was to be wound up and such a wind-up could be concluded quickly.  The triennial valuation as at June 2001 was due by June 2002 and Mr Orr suggested that it would not be in the Plan’s best interests for him to commence work on that which he would be unable to complete.  The minutes of the meeting record:
“The Trustees agreed to appoint a new Actuary and after discussion agreed to appoint an actuary from Punter Southall.  The Trustees also noted that Punter Southall provided administrative services and potentially could provide administrative, actuarial and investment services to the Plan.  However, it was also noted the Trustees needed to be aware of the costs involved compared to the size of the Plan.

It was agreed that Punter Southall would be approached regarding the provision of services to the Plan and related costs.”

18. Although not recorded in the minutes, from the end 2001 a new Plan administrator was in any event required to replace Winterthur which was withdrawing from providing administrative services for all final salary schemes, including the Plan.  
19. The minutes also record agreement to appoint Psolve, a subsidiary of Punter Southall, as investment adviser to the Plan.  Psolve’s advice, given by letter dated 31 October 2001, was considered at a trustees’ meeting on 1 November 2001.  Psolve recommended, amongst other things, that if the Plan was to be wound up then the Plan assets should be transferred to long-dated gilts or similar instruments.  The minutes of the meeting record:
“The trustees noted that they could run the [Plan] on but only if the final benefits secured were likely to be greater than those that could be secured by purchasing deferred annuities now.  The trustees noted the investment and mortality risks involved in running the [Plan] on.

 In the light of the above, the trustees decided that the [Plan] should not be run on.  HRTL agreed to obtain legal advice regarding the best method to trigger the winding up and with advice from the new [Plan] Actuary, the practicalities of buying out members’ benefit entitlements.” 

20. The Trustees agreed to appoint a new Actuary from Punter Southall.  Punter Southall confirmed that the fee for preparing the actuarial valuation due as at 1 June 2001 would not exceed £4,000 plus VAT.   Mr Pearn pointed out that fees had already been paid to Winterthurs included the costs of that valuation.  This was checked by telephone during the meeting and confirmed.  Subsequent to the meeting Winterthurs was asked (by letter dated 1 November 2001) for a credit in respect of the cost of undertaking the valuation.  The upshot was that Winterthur refunded £4,000 in respect of the fee paid in advance.  

21. The next trustees’ meeting took place on 1 November 2001 at which it was agreed that Elizabeth Battams of Punter Southall would replace Mr Orr as Plan Actuary.  It was further agreed that the administration of the Plan would be passed to Punter Southall.  The minutes do not record any discussion as to Punter Southall’s costs for administering the Plan.   
22. At the next trustees’ meeting on 11 December 2001 the trustees considered legal advice (from Garretts) received on 21 November 2001 and agreed that the winding up of the Plan should commence immediately. They made a formal resolution to that effect.  The minutes record the Trustees’ previous agreement to appoint Punter Southall as the new Plan Administrator (from 1 January 2002).  Punter Southall’s fee proposal, set out in an email dated 10 December 2001, was considered and accepted.  That email said, about Punter Southall’s fees if the Plan was wound up:

“Upon wind-up, we would only take on the administration of the Plan on a full time-cost basis.  Illustrative hourly charge out rates are as follows:

Senior Consultant – Admin: £120 per hour, Junior Admin Staff: £60-80 per hour.

….we would charge £2,000 for the take-on and validation of the membership data.” 
23. Mr Pearn requested at the December meeting that a draft programme be prepared outlining the winding up process with a costed fee forecast. This was not initially minuted and in consequence had not been actioned by the time of the next trustees’ meeting on 28 January 2002.  An amendment was made to the minutes of the previous meeting that been proposed for confirmation. The Trustees also agreed that the draft programme and fee forecast should be presented at their next meeting.  That took place on 26 March 2002.  HRTL and Punter Southall presented separate winding up plans both with fee forecasts.  Mr Pearn agreed to review both plans with Punter Southall who thereafter were to prepare a single revised plan, taking into account both original plans plus any comments from Mr Pearn and HRTL.  Punter Southall later produced an amalgamated version (see paragraph 30 below).  
24. A representative from Psolve who attended part of the meeting on 26 March 2002 reported that Winterthur (who remained as investment managers) had been given, but not yet implemented,  instructions to switch funds from the managed fund into gilts.  In consequence, the switch would take place on 11 April 2002 and, if that delay proved financially detrimental, Wintherthur would be asked to make good the loss.  Mr Pearn queried whether the switch would go ahead in any event or whether it was dependent upon stock market conditions at the time.  
25. Mr Matthews, who had been unable to attend several meetings, was asked at the March Meeting if he wished to continue as a trustee.  Mr Matthews gave an assurance that he would be able to attend future meetings and wished to continue as a trustee.  
26. The actuarial valuation of the Plan as at 1 June 2001 was completed on 31 May 2002.  As at 1 June 2001 there were no active members of the Scheme (members having ceased to accrue further benefits on 15 January 2001).  There were 14 deferred members (including the Applicants) and 9 pensioner members.  One of the deferred members had reached normal retirement age (NRA) on 11 January 2002.  The valuation assessed the market value of the Plan’s assets as £2.711 million with total past service liabilities of £1.756 million which on the Minimum Funding Ratio (MFR) basis gave a surplus of assets over liabilities of £995,000, equivalent to a funding position of 154%.  That compared with a 230% funding level recorded in the previous actuarial valuation as at 1 June 1998.  The later report suggested that the deterioration was due, in the main, to a lower than expected investment return.  Other factors included the salary growth of active members.    

27. In June 2002, HRTL complained to Winterthur about delay in carrying out the investment switch and sought reimbursement on the basis of the difference between the units purchased and those that would have been purchased had the switch been effected in March 2002.  Subsequently Winterthur agreed to credit the fund with the additional units that would have been purchased (at a cost of £15,618.13) had the switch been made in March 2002.  Winterthur also agreed to make a further credit to the Plan of £5,180.58 which represented costs incurred by HRTL and Psolve in dealing with that matter.    
28. An emergency meeting of the Trustees was held on 1 July 2002, the minutes of which record HRTL’s and Mr Pearn’s concerns as to the standard of service provided by Punter Southall.  Their representative at the meeting apologised and said that, following discussions with HRTL, improvements had been made.  

29. At around that time, the Plan Actuary was replaced by another Actuary from Punter Southall.  When that Actuary later took maternity leave in 2004, a further Actuary from Punter Southall replaced her.  
30. On 4 July 2002, Punter Southall issued a revised costed draft timetable for winding up the Plan.  A copy is attached as Appendix 1.  Punter Southall’s costs were estimated at between £38,900 and £42,800 and HRTL’s at £29,300, giving total estimated costs between £68,200 and £72,100.  As set out in paragraph 48 below, Punter Southall’s actual costs and disbursements have so far amounted to £234,777.89.
31. HRTL wrote to Punter Southall on 18 July 2002.  In part the letter said:

“I think you will appreciate the need for me, on behalf of all the Trustees, to formally record both our surprise and disappointment to learn that progress in relation to the action points since the last Trustee meeting held on 26 March 2002 had fallen well short of our expectations.

.. I think we agreed that it is not fair that the [Plan] should incur the costs of either the Trustees or Punter Southall in endeavouring to sort out these servicing issues and I trust that you will provide the Trustees with a suitable proposal in relation to this matter at our next meeting.”

32. The letter also requested that Punter Southall provide a list of action points arising from the meeting on 1 July 2002.

33. A further emergency meeting was held on 13 August 2002.  An action plan had been drawn up and a copy is attached as Appendix 2.  It was agreed that a similar summary of the action points agreed should be drafted after each meeting (although I have not seen any other action plans).  The revised costed draft timetable for winding up was discussed.  Mr Pearn raised concerns over the level of costs incurred compared with the size of the fund.  It was agreed that the final costs and timetable would be presented at the next full trustees’ meeting on 10 September 2002.  The minutes also refer to ongoing discussions between HRTL and Punter Southall aimed at ensuring that the Plan did not suffer any charges related to the “substandard service received from [Punter Southall]”.
34. At the trustees’ meeting on 10 September 2002 Punter Southall presented its action plan.  Punter Southall commented on those items not marked as completed. Progress made on the winding up and further steps to be taken were discussed.  Aside from those updates, there is no record in the minutes of any “final costs and timetable” (as referred to in the previous meeting) being presented.  Punter Southall reported that any costs relating to the two emergency meetings held on 1 July and 13 August 2002 would not be met by the Plan.  
35. The trustees’ meeting scheduled for January 2003 did not go ahead as HRTL’s representative was unable to attend for personal reasons.  The meeting instead took place on 4 February 2003. By then Punter Southall had submitted its invoices for work done during 2002 (invoices numbered 126737 and 127315, referred to further below).  Mr Pearn had received copies and had written to HRTL on 18 December 2002 saying that he wished to discuss the “acceptability or otherwise” of the invoices.  At the meeting the trustees agreed to meet further to discuss Punter Southall’s invoices with HRTL to request additional information about those fees.  
36. That meeting took place on 19 March 2003.  No minutes were prepared but Mr Pearn’s handwritten notes record, in relation to Punter Southall’s invoices, a  breakdown of which had been supplied, that Mr Pearn was asked to put in writing his concerns about the charges levied although a payment of £25,000 on account to Punter Southall was agreed.  The note records HRTL’s agreement to deduct £3,000 from its own December 2002 account in respect of extra costs incurred in preparing the Plan accounts as at 31 May 2002.  In addition it seems that HRTL agreed to deduct £500 from its January 2002 account in respect of the costs incurred in rearranging the date of the trustees meeting.

37. Punter Southall wrote to Mr Pearn on 25 March 2003, referring to his review of the invoices submitted and saying that, notwithstanding the payment on account, significant fees remained outstanding.  Punter Southall wrote again on 24 April 2003 saying further work would not be undertaken until fees had been agreed in advance, to be paid within 30 days of the issue of the invoice.  Punter Southall’s later letter of 12 June 2003 stated that invoices did not reflect the full time costs recorded and requested payment of the amounts outstanding.  The letter confirmed a credit in respect of half of HRTL’s costs relating to the two emergency meetings in 2002 and requested payment of the amount outstanding under the two invoices mentioned.  
38. HRTL wrote to Mr Pearn on 4 April 2003.  The letter, with reference to the late completion of the trustees report and accounts for the year ended 31 May 2002, included a summary of HRTL’s fees “attributed to the overrun of the accounts”.  As I understand the position, that summary, in the main, listed tasks undertaken as a direct result of the accounts not having been completed in a timely fashion (for example, telephone calls chasing information, correspondence with OPRA to explain the delay, etc).  That “extra” work was costed at £2,347.50.   That sum included discussions with Bishop Flemming costed at £735 of which HRTL estimated that up to £350 would have been incurred in any event.  Drafting of the accounts, costed at £787.50, was work which was in any event necessary but which, had more time been available, could have been undertaken by a lower grade of personnel at a cost of only £206.25.  In addition, HRTL said that some additional work had been undertaken in chasing Winterthur directly and via Punter Southall, which work had not been recorded but was estimated to have cost £250.  The overall adjusted cost arising due to delay was therefore £2,041.  HRTL said that in addition some £400 in additional fees were incurred by the Plan auditors as a result of the involvement of more senior staff in trying to complete the audit on time.
39. HRTL wrote again to Mr Pearn on 9 May 2003, enclosing a draft of a proposed letter to him which was sent as a basis for discussion.  The draft indicated that HRTL was satisfied with explanations provided by Punter Southall to back up the invoices.  HRTL continued:

“Whilst you have some issues on particular items, your main area of contention is that [Punter Southall] should not receive full payment in respect of some of the items as the level of service was not satisfactory.  Whilst we agree that there were issues on the timeliness of the work we have difficulty in supporting any request to discount fees in such a manner.  Such penalties are not within the terms of the Trustees’ agreement with [Punter Southall].
.. I have confirmed to [Punter Southall] that the total fees incurred as a result of HRTL attending the two [emergency] meetings to discuss service issues, totalled £4,326.00.  HRTL have, as a matter of goodwill and to finally resolve this issue, agreed with [Punter Southall] that we will each bear half of this cost.  Consequently, [Punter Southall] will be crediting £2,165.00 against their fees.”

40. The reference to the trustees’ agreement with Punter Southall is to the agreement which recorded Punter Southall’ appointment, expressed as being from 21 March 2002 (which date HRTL says is incorrect and should read 1 January 2002), to provide administration services, as set out in the agreement.  For reasons which are not clear, that agreement was not signed until 4 November 2003 and 24 November 2003 by Punter Southall and HRTL respectively.  About charges the agreement said:

“In return for providing the Services, the Trustees will pay [Punter Southall’s] fees based on time spent and the hourly time charges of [Punter Southall’s] staff performing administration services for the Trustees (as fixed from time to time by [Punter Southall] and agreed by the Trustees), where no other fees have been agreed for those services.  In addition, the Trustees will meet actual out-of-pocket expenses incurred by [Punter Southall] for the Trustees.

Fees are payable monthly in arrears.  [Punter Southall] will render invoices to the Trustees, accompanied by such details as are reasonably necessary to validate the amounts being charged.”

41. The then current hourly charging rates for Punter Southall’s staff were set out in an appendix to the agreement and ranged from £300 for the Actuary, £160 for the administrator and £85 to £110 for administration support.   The agreement included “Turnaround Times” for various tasks but no “penalty clauses”.  The turnaround times related, in the main, to queries etc pertaining to individual members and did not relate to work undertaken specifically in connection with the Plan’s winding up.  
42. On 27 June 2003 Mr Pearn wrote to HRTL’s Chief Executive.  Enclosed with the letter was a detailed report, prepared by Mr Pearn, entitled “Review of the Administration of the [Plan] 29 March 2001 to Present”.  That report set out Mr Pearn’s concerns about the administration and winding up of the Plan which Mr Pearn felt had come to a standstill.  

43. HRTL’s Chief Executive, Mr Steven Ross, wrote on 4 July 2003 saying that, in view of the “apparent deterioration of the relationship between [Mr Pearn] and Punter Southall”, he had decided to take a personal responsibility for ensuring future smooth running.  His letter made no reference to this causing any different level of fees to be charged than previously mentioned.  
44. On 24 July 2003 HRTL notified the Applicants that the signatories to the Plan’s bank account had been changed so that a signature from either of the Applicants was no longer required.  
45. Mr Ross wrote further on 2 September 2003.  He said that although Mr Pearn had successfully challenged Punter Southall’s invoices on four occasions (resulting each time in fees of almost £3,000 being written off) the time and effort expended in obtaining those write downs was disproportionate.  I have however been given no details of what time and effort by HRTL was involved and such work is not specifically itemised in the bills which have been submitted.  Mr Ross was to take over as Chairman of the trustees and would authorise fees for payment, including HRTL’s own fees although copy invoices would be sent to the Applicants who could raise any issues thereon with Mr Ross.   
46. A trustees’ meeting was held on 15 October 2003, chaired by Mr Ross.  Punter Southall detailed the two key tasks shown on the project plan as remaining to be undertaken in connection with the winding up, being data validation and information gathering (completion of GMP reconciliation with NICO) and securing benefits by buying out.  
47. The minutes record that, due to the small number of members whose pensions needed to be secured as part of the buy-out (existing pensioners already having had their benefits secured under annuities) only Legal & General were likely to provide a quote to secure benefits on buy-out.  There was discussion about changes in Legal & General’s rates and the impact of that and other factors on the funding level of the Plan.  Since April 2002, when the funding level had been estimated at 100% on a buy-out basis (with assets valued at £1,892,000 against liabilities of £1,882,000), the estimated funding level had fallen to 76% (based on assets of £1,879,000 and liabilities of £2,466,000).  The change in funding level was recorded as being due to three factors:  additional reserve for current pensioners (9% impact); additional reserve to allow for some members being able to draw part of their pensions unreduced prior to normal retirement date (4%); change in buy-out terms available (11%).  Punter Southall’s advice was that it was unlikely that buy-out terms would improve over the next 12 months and it was agreed that Punter Southall would investigate locking into buy-out rates with Legal & General at the earliest practical opportunity.

48. No further trustees meetings took place until 25 April 2005. The winding up of the Plan has yet to be completed.  The total costs incurred (as at August 2006) were £564,148, made up as follow:  
Auditors 




£8,724.38
Cameron McKenna,



£7,981.38
Garretts 



               £998.75

Grant Thornton



£3,525.00
PSFM (Psolve)



£6,168.75

Winterthur


                      £18,637.08

Punter Southall


        £234,777.89

HRTL


                                £283,335.10

TOTAL


                    £564,148.33
49. Garretts are solicitors who were consulted by HRTL in November 2001 for initial advice as to how to put the Plan into winding up, the Applicants' expenses, the debt owed by the Company in respect of the difference between contributions due under the Schedule of contributions and contributions actually paid, and equalisation of GMPs.  Garretts' advice was considered at the trustees meeting in December 2001 at which the decision to wind up the Plan was taken.
50. The invoice from Cameron McKenna (who also are solicitors) refers to the provision of legal services (to HRTL) in connection the application made to me. This included a meeting with HRTL (on 21 July 2005) and giving written advice.
Have excessive fees been charged or authorised? 

51. HRTL has told me that it complies with the Code of Conduct (the Code) which has been drawn up by the Independent Trustees’ Group of the Pension Management Institute. That Code has no statutory standing but provides some evidence as to what is acceptable professional practice.  Part 6 of the Code deals with insolvency and the opening paragraph says that an independent trustee appointed to a scheme in wind-up should “adopt a charging basis that is reasonable and transparent”.  A number of principles are set out, many of which are relevant to the issues before me.  
52. Principle 2.6 says that IPTs [Independent Trustees] should ensure the trustees have in place procedures for the selection of service providers.  The explanation given is: 
“IPTs should consider the selection processes and review processes for service providers (including the use of tender documents for new appointments, selection from a number of candidates and objective selection criteria).”
53. Principle 6.3 says:

“The IPT has the responsibility to co-ordinate the activities of the service providers to ensure that the wind-up progresses without undue delay.”

Explanatory text deals in the main with establishing and reviewing at intervals a project plan, in conjunction with service providers, who should be required to provide a charging basis that is “comprehensive, clear and reasonable”.  It says that, where appropriate, consideration should be given to putting tasks out to tender to ensure that the winding up proceeds in the most efficient and cost effective manner and for  fixed fees to be negotiated where possible.  

54. Principle 6.5 says:

“[Independent Trustees] should adopt a charging basis that is comprehensive, clear and reasonable.  It should be capable of disclosure to the insolvency practitioner or Regulator on enquiry.”

55. Paragraph 6.5.6(c) says that it is inappropriate to:

“charge for the rectification of mistakes or inefficiencies by the trustees or delegates and advisers where the cost can reasonably be offset against the fees of the party responsible.”

56. Principle 6.7 requires that independent trustees “should always seek to ensure that they operate in a cost effective and time efficient manner.”
Charges by HRTL
57. Although, as shown in Appendix 1, HRTL provided an estimated cost for reaching each identified stage in the wind up, the bills produced and authorised for payment do not relate to any specified stages.  HRTL says it is unable to provide a schedule of actual costs on the same “staged” basis as its estimate.

58. The following invoices have been identified by the Applicants as evidencing overcharging by HRTL.  What the Applicants say about each invoice is set out, followed by what HRTL says in response.  
58.1. Invoice No: 10010100
Date: 10 January 2003

Amount: £3,862.82 (£3,287.50 plus VAT £575.32)

That invoice included work on the late completion of the Trustees Report and Accounts to 31 May 2002.  
58.1..1. The Applicants suggest that changes in HRTL personnel were responsible for the delay and that had HRTL undertaken sufficient preparatory work during the preceding months this would have enabled the accounts to have been prepared on time and without additional costs, including reporting the matter to OPRA. 
58.1..2. In support of that suggestion, the Applicants refer to HRTL’s letter of 4 April 2003 in response to queries raised by Mr Pearn on receipt of the invoice.  HRTL attached to its letter a summary of fees “attributed to the overrun of the accounts”.  Some 16 of the 42 entries on HRTL’s timesheet are identified, totalling £2,347.50.  Of that amount, HRTL calculated that only, say, £350 represented “legitimate” fees with a further £207 in respect of work that would have been undertaken in any event, but, had the matter not been urgent, by a lower grade member of staff.  HRTL added that a further amount, put at £250, related to chasing Winterthur directly or via Punter Southall.  Taking those matters into account HRTL calculated the “amount arising due to delays to completion” was £2,041. 
58.1..3. Mr Pearn’s note of the meeting on 19 March 2003 recorded that HRTL had agreed to deduct £3,000 from its December 2002 costs.  

58.1..4. HRTL rejects the assertion that changes in personnel were responsible for delay.  HRTL referred to its letter dated 20 December 2002 advising OPRA that the Trustees Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 May 2002 would not be completed within the seven month statutory deadline. This gave the reason for the delay as difficulties in obtaining information from Winterthur.

58.2. Invoice No: 10010461 
Date: 6 February 2003
Amount: £4,395.97 (£3,741.25 plus VAT £654.72)
58.2..1. The timesheet produced by HRTL in support of the invoice shows a charge of £367.50 to cover its costs in postponing and rearranging a trustees meeting which its director was unable to attend due to a bereavement.  The Applicants say that it is not normal commercial practice to make such a charge in such circumstances.

58.2..2. Mr Pearn’s note of the meeting on 19 March 2003 records that HRTL agreed to make a deduction of £500 in respect of the matter.  

58.2..3. HRTL maintains that rearranging a trustees meeting due to unforeseen circumstances (a death in the family of the director to attend) was a legitimate charge.

58.3. Invoice No: 10014386
Date: 4 September 2003
Amount: 3,831.97 (£3,261.25 plus VAT £570.72)
58.3..1. The time sheet shows charges by HRTL’s Principal Consultant (Mr Stuart Barker) totalling £2,310 plus VAT to resolve fee issues and to change banking arrangements.  There is also an amount of £105 plus VAT for “filing”.  The Applicants say that the fees issues arose because HRTL lost control of the winding up process.  They feel that the changes in banking arrangements were unnecessary.   
58.3..2. HRTL says that following Mr Pearn’s complaints under cover of his letter of 27 June 2003, a high-level member of HRTL’s staff had to research the background before a response could be sent to Mr Pearn.  HRTL had to take what action it considered appropriate in order to move forward the winding up.  
58.3..3. HRTL says that “dozens of hours” had been spent in conjunction with Mr Pearn which Mr Ross genuinely considered was disproportionate, both in terms of any realistic prospect of reducing fees substantially and in view of the various other matters pertaining to the winding up which required the trustees’ attention.  

58.4. Invoice No: 10014732
Date: 8 October 2003

Amount: £5,288.97 (£4,501.25 plus VAT £787.72)
58.4..1. This invoice includes further charges (£290 and £1,015 plus VAT) for Mr Ross’s time in investigating HRTL’s performance in the light of Mr Pearn’s review document.  A further £945 plus VAT was charged by Mr Barker.  When raising his concerns. Mr Pearn made it clear that he considered that it would be wholly inappropriate for the Plan to incur costs in rectifying the situation.  
58.4..2. There was a further charge of £685 plus VAT for arranging a transfer value for a member.  Punter Southall would also have charged for calculating the transfer value.  A further £997 plus VAT was charged for liaising with Punter Southall (who would have charged for their own part in the preparation) in preparation for the trustees meeting on 15 October 2003.  The Applicants suggest that this would have included time spent in resurrecting the winding up which had come to a halt.  

58.4..3. HRTL says that the matters raised by Mr Pearn had to be investigated fully and the charges levied (£1,305 and £945) were properly incurred.  Plan members had a statutory right to transfer and the processing of the named member’s transfer request was outstanding from June 2003 and the work undertaken in September 2003 (at a cost of £685 net of VAT) was necessary expenditure.  Preparation for the trustees meeting in October 2003 was necessary, particularly as the previous meeting had taken place in February 2003.  That long gap meant that the personnel involved had to refresh their memories such that the charges made were properly incurred.

58.5. Invoice No: 10015180
Date: 5 November 2003

Amount: £6,262.75 (£5,330 plus VAT £932.75)
58.5..1. The combined cost of HRTL personnel for preparing and attending the trustees meeting on 15 October 2003 was £500 per hour plus VAT.  In respect of the same meeting, charges were incurred for the Plan Actuary’s attendance plus administration charges by Punter Southall.   The Plan incurred higher charges as a result of Mr Ross taking personal responsibility for the Plan at an overall hourly rate that was inappropriate for the Plan’s size.  

58.5..2. Following Mr Pearn’s complaints, HRTL’s Chief Executive, Mr Ross took over responsibility for the matter and attended the meeting in October 2003 and subsequent meetings (which he chaired).  HRTL said that it took Mr Pearn’s concerns seriously and resourced the matter accordingly.
58.6. Invoice No: 10016505
Date: 17 February 

Amount: £2,755.38 (£2,345 plus VAT £410.38)
58.6..1. The invoice includes a charge of £910 plus VAT (£280 per hour with 3.25 hours spent) by Jo Hasledon in respect of “Briefing Meeting plus review meeting note.”  The Applicants also query a charge of £90 per hour for filing.

58.6..2. HRTL said that Jo Hasleden is an experienced solicitor and part of HRTL’s team and was involved in a strategy review meeting in January 2004.

58.7. Invoice No: 10018992
Date: 17 August 2004
Amount: £3,666 (£3,120 plus VAT £546)
58.7..1. The Applicants, referring to the first item on HRTL’ls timesheet being “Peer rev[iew] ….PS & Co terms/appt papers” and query whether this means that Punter Southall’s letter of appointment was still not in place. They also query a further entry which refers to the updating of a project plan, saying that they have never seen any project plan.   

58.7..2. The Respondent says that Punter Southall’s letter of appointment was in place and effective from 21 March 2002.  In anticipation of transferring the assets to a bulk annuity, a costed project plan (tasks and costs) was worked on to estimate a cash provision to hold back for future expenses.  Assets were transferred to L&G in October 2004.  This was confirmed to the trustees at the meeting in April 2005 and further details would have been provided if requested.

58.8. Invoice No: 10019666
Date: 12 October 2004

Amount: £6,024.82 (£5,127.50 plus VAT £897.32)
58.8..1. The Applicants say that the fee account shows a discrepancy between the amount charged for the hours spend and apparently shows an overcharge of £95 plus VAT which is £111.63.  

58.8..2. HRTL says that the timesheet shows a charge of £840 in respect of 3 hours work by HRTL’s Claire Teagle at £280, giving a total charge in respect of that item of £840.  The Statement of Activity has a clerical error in that the total charge for Claire Teagle’s work is recorded as £280 although her charge out rate is correctly shown as £280 per hour and time spent is shown as 3 hours.
58.9. Invoice No: 10020116
Date: 11 November 2004
Amount: £22,345.57 (£19,017.50 plus VAT £3,328.07)
58.9..1. This invoice includes £1,860 plus VAT for preparation and attendance (6 hours) at a trustees meeting when the meeting planned for September 2004 had been postponed and had not been rearranged.

58.9..2. HRTL agrees that there was no trustees’ meeting in October 2004.The charge was incorrectly recorded on the time sheet as preparation for and attendance at a trustees meeting in October 2004 but should have been shown as similar in respect of a meeting with Punter Southall on 6 October 2004.

58.10. Invoice No: 10020940
Date: 18 January 2005
Amount: £4,647.13 (£3,955 plus VAT £692.13)
58.10..1. The Applicants point out that work regarding a member query from a C James is shown but no such person is a member of the Plan.

58.10..2. HRTL says that the member’s name was incorrectly recorded as C James, the correct member’s surname being Robinson. 
Punter Southall

59. The Applicants have pointed to the first two invoices submitted by Punter Southall.  A further two invoices, numbered 131806 and 132397, were selected as samples.  
59.1. Invoice No: 126737
Date: 12 December 2002
Amount: £20,591.87 (£17,525 plus VAT £3,066.87)
59.1..1. This invoice covered work done from 1 January to 30 June 2002.  On receipt of a copy of the invoice (the first submitted by Punter Southall) Mr Pearn wrote (on 18 December 2002) to HRTL saying that he wished to discuss the “acceptability or otherwise” of the invoice.  Despite it being agreed, at the trustees meeting on 4 February 2003, that a meeting would be arranged to discuss that and the next invoice (number 127315, referred to below, which covered the period 1 July to 31 December 2002) it was only after prompting from Mr Pearn that the meeting went ahead.

59.1..2. Punter Southall had by then supplied breakdowns of the two invoices and although at the meeting Mr Pearn articulated his concerns he was asked to put them in writing.  He did so to HRTL who in turn sent them to Punter Southall.  Despite that, HRTL later confirmed that it was satisfied with Punter Southall’s explanations to back up their fees. Mr Pearn submits that although HRTL had agreed that the accounts should be queried and had asked Mr Pearn for his observations, HRTL did not then follow the matter through and ultimately paid Punter Southall’s fees.  
59.1..3. HRTL say that after considering Mr Pearn’s objections, HRTL concluded that payment should be made.  No reason has been given for that decision, 
59.2. Invoice No: 127315
Date: 31 December 2002
Amount:  £25,015.75 (£21,290 plus VAT £3,725.75)
59.2..1. Similar comments apply to those set out above with this invoice also approved for payment by HRTL. 
59.2..2.   Again HRTL decided the invoice should be paid. Again they have provided me with no reason for the decision. 
59.3. Invoice No: 131806
Date: 7 October 2004
Amount: £15,386.62 (£13,095 plus VAT £2,291.62)
59.3..1. The Applicants say that proper assessment of the invoice is not possible as the charges appear only as a lump sum, with VAT added to show the overall total.  The invoice does not indicate the identity of the personnel involved, the tasks undertaken, the hourly rate and the number of hours charged.  
59.3..2. HRTL, at my request, obtained from Punter Southall, a full breakdown of the invoice which covers work done from 1 August to 30 September 2004. Punter Southall’s hourly fees are (or were at the outset of the matter) (excluding VAT) £380 for the Actuary, £170 for the assistant Actuary, £140 for the Plan Administrator and £70 - £120 for administrative support.
59.3..3. HRTL says Punter Southall’s charges were not uncompetitive.   
59.4. Invoice No: 132397
Date: 10 January 2005
Amount: £34,627.25 (£29,470 plus VAT £5,157.25)
59.4..1. The Applicants say similar comments apply.  
59.4..2. HRTL has not commented but has supplied, at my request, a breakdown of the amount charged.
SUBMISSIONS

From the Applicants:
60. In a nutshell, the winding up of the Plan has taken too long and cost too much.  At the outset HRTL said (in its letter of 5 April 2001) said that it was “very conscious of the need to keep fees to the practical minimum”.  Instead, the fees and expenses charged are hugely disproportionate to the Plan size, member numbers and assets.  If it had been known that the winding up would take so long and cost so much it is inconceivable that the Applicants would have supported the decision to wind up.  
61. Following the decision, on HRTL’s recommendation, to wind up the Plan, HRTL did not prepare a costed programme with a deliverable time frame.  It was only at Mr Pearn’s suggestion, at the trustees meeting on 28 January 2002, that such a programme was prepared.  HRTL and Punter Southall initially prepared individual costings which were subsequently merged to give the overall costing as set out in paragraph 30 above.  On a worse case scenario that made a total core cost of £72,100 (£84,717 including VAT) with completion of the winding up scheduled for the end of 2003.  That was not adhered to, either in cost or time terms with no real explanation as to why both have overrun so greatly.  Any departures from the costed programme should have been identified with the reasons for any costs increase explained and discussed and agreed.  In reality the costed programme was prepared but thereafter ignored.  Even if actual costs were twice the original estimates that would be £144,200 on which basis there has been an overspend of £488,852.  
62. Punter Southall’s email sent 10 December 2001, detailing its charges is misleading.  Later information provided indicated actuary’s charges of between £170 and £380 per hour, with the Plan administrator’s charges shown as £140 per hour and administrative support costing between £70 and £120 per hour.  The Applicants say that, prior to appointing Punter Southall, competitive quotations should have been obtained from alternative suppliers and the failure to do so was in breach of Principle 6.3 of the Code.  
63. A total of £633,052 has been disinvested from the Plan.  As the fees charged amount to £564,148.33 there is in any event a discrepancy of some £72,000 which is unaccounted for.  

64. The Applicants have not scrutinised each and every invoice submitted (and, in any event, after September 2003 and despite the assurance given in Mr Ross’ letter of 2 September 2003, the Applicants were not provided with copies of the various fee accounts) but say that a sampling approach reveals errors and overcharging which suggests that a full investigation would reveal similar discrepancies.  The format of the invoices, without supplementary information, does not make it easy to assess and evaluate the fees charged.  Other professionals have to show what work was done, on what day, and at what cost and it is unsatisfactory that fees of independent trustees are not subject to scrutiny by a specially appointed adjudicator.  
65. From October 2003 the format of the monthly invoices submitted by HRTL changed.  Previously an explanation, time, hourly rate and time charged had been given but subsequent invoices have shown only the tasks and total hours to be charged which makes it impossible to assess whether the time taken for certain tasks was reasonable.  The Applicants contradict HRTL’s claim (in its letter of 2 September 2003) that its “fee note is very straightforward and gives a clear indication of what people were doing, how long it took them to do it and their charge out rates.”   

66. HRTL delayed in transferring the Plan’s assets which resulted in a loss of value. Psolve advised, at the end of October 2001, that the Plan’s assets should be transferred.  That advice was accepted at the trustees meeting on 11 December 2001 but the transfer did not take place until April 2002, some months later and a year after HRTL had been appointed.  Further, if HRTL had sought advice earlier, then the decision to transfer would have been taken earlier.  If the transfer had taken place, say, in the last quarter of 2001, the loss in value to the Plan’s assets by stock market falls would have been in part avoided.  There was in any event a delay by Winterthur in actioning the transfer once instructions had been given, which delay Mr Pearn identified, leading to the recovery of £20,798.71 from Winterthur.

67. HRTL failed to gain, as a priority on appointment, a full and complete understanding of the Plan’s liabilities.  In October 2003, some 30 months after HRTL’s appointment and 22 months after Punter Southall’s, issues about the treatment (by Winterthur) of pensions increases and spouses pensions had not been resolved.  In consequence the Plan’s assets were overstated which meant that decisions made were based on incorrect information.  It was not until June 2004 that HRTL admitted that there were insufficient assets to secure all members benefits in full.  HRTL then failed to seek independent advice as to the merits of pursuing a claim against Winterthur in respect of the inconsistent treatment of pensions increases and spouses pensions.  Even by April 2005 member information was still incomplete (see paragraph 75.8 below).

68. It was not in the members’ best interests for HRTL to appoint Punter Southall, a central London based firm, as Scheme administrators.  The level of fees charged and the extended line of communication to the Scheme insurer (who recommended Charterhouse Consultancy Limited, whose charges were £100 plus VAT per hour, as Scheme Administrator) has been detrimental and costly to the winding up.  The Plan was small and was not a high priority for HRTL.  If it had been given the right degree of attention then it would have been wound up in good time and at a fraction of the cost.  

69. There have been many changes of personnel at both HRTL and Punter Southall which has led to disruption, loss of continuity and increased costs.  The Plan Actuary has changed a number of times as have additional actuaries appointed to work on the Plan.  

70. HRTL failed to ensure Punter Southall’s service was acceptable.  The lack of initial progress was identified at a meeting on 11 June 2002.  Two emergency meetings followed, on 1 July and 13 August 2002, the first to identify the problems and introduce corrective measures and the second to check that such measures were producing results. At the meeting on 1 July 2002 Punter Southall’s representative acknowledged and apologised for the unsatisfactory service received and later credited the Plan in respect of fees incurred by Punter Southall and HRTL in attending the emergency meetings.  HRTL’s letter of 18 July 2002 records Punter Southall’s unsatisfactory performance.  

71. The following year, against the background that work on winding up the Plan had been at a standstill since April 2003, with HRTL taking no steps to remedy the position, Mr Pearn, aware of his responsibilities as a trustee, researched the situation and prepared his review document which he submitted to HRTL’s Chief Executive under cover of his letter of 27 June 2003.  HRTL seemed unaware that the winding up had come to a standstill and had failed to take remedial action and was unwilling to pursue costs issues with Punter Southall.  

72. Despite not contesting what Mr Pearn said, HRTL took over three months to implement changes which were not discussed with the Applicants, including the Applicants’ removal as co-signatories to the Plan’s bank account.  This meant that from then on HRTL could pay their own fees and others without scrutiny or control, despite charges having been challenged by the Applicants.  The previous arrangement for the Applicants to co-sign cheques did not delay payments.  Mr Pearn also denies the suggestion (by HRTL in its letter of 4 July 2003) that his relationship with Punter Southall had deteriorated.  The problem was that without HRTL’s support Mr Pearn was unable to challenge Punter Southall’s fees.  

73. Mr Pearn’s role as chairman of the trustees meetings was taken over by HRTL who also took over the secretarial function from Punter Southall.  The Applicants, who were asked not to communicate with other members of HRTL’s staff, were deliberately marginalised as trustees because they had exposed HRTL’s failings and overcharging and they were prevented from protecting the interests of Plan members. 
74. Despite HRTL’s Chief Executive, Mr Ross, assuming responsibility for the winding up, the situation continued to drift.  In addition, the Plan incurred higher charges in consequence of Mr Ross’ involvement.  For example, the trustees meeting on 15 October 2003 was attended by Mr Ross and Mr Barker, also from HRTL whose combined hourly charges were in excess of £500.    

75. The Applicants point to the following evidence of delay by HRTL:  

75.1. HRTL’s letter of 26 April 2004 to Mr Pearn contained an apology for not providing an update previously.  

75.2. The announcement to members issued on 8 July 2004 contains an apology for the delay in providing an update, the previous announcement having been some 22 months earlier, in September 2002.

75.3. HRTL undertook the secretarial function at trustee meetings but the draft minutes of the trustees meeting on 26 March 2002 were not received until 13 May 2002 with the final version available towards the end of June.  Similarly the draft minutes for the trustees meeting held on 15 October 2003 were not produced until April 2004.  No agenda packs for the trustee meeting arranged for 14 September 2004 (in the event cancelled) were available by 9 September 2004 (despite HRTL’s fees accounts including significant reference to preparation undertaken for that meeting).  

75.4. Audited accounts for the year ended 31 May 2004 were again provided late. 

75.5. Mr Pearn  experienced delays in receiving his own expenses.  

75.6. Benefits in respect of a member who reached NRD on 11 January 2002 were not paid until November 2002 (and were then overpaid as he received 100% of his tax free lump sum and 90% of his pension).  

75.7. The need for a further announcement to members was identified at the end of 2004 but the draft announcement was not produced until the trustees meeting in April 2005.  The announcement was not issued until six months later in October 2005 and even then contained only generalised information rather than the more specific details that Mr Pearn had suggested ought to have been included.  

75.8. By the trustees meeting in April 2005, member information was still incomplete despite Mr Pearn’s assistance (see, for example, Mr Pearn’s letter of 4 November 2004 to Punter Southall in response to Punter Southall’s letter of 26 October 2004 seeking further information in respect of certain members.

75.9. The actuarial valuation as at 1 June 2001 could have been available earlier, in July 2001, instead of May 2002.

76. The Plan ought to have been wound up by the end of 2003 and on that basis the Applicants suggest that costs incurred after 31 December 2003 should be written off.  

77. Some decisions taken are questionable. For example, the investment switch resulted in a loss of £76,830 in the value of the fund to 31 May 2002 and a further loss of £60,090 to 31 May 2004.  The Applicants query whether the switch should have gone ahead and whether the resulting loss could have been avoided.  

78. There is no evidence that Legal & General offered the best rates and terms to buy out benefits.  Mr Pearn has produced a letter dated 30 July 2004 sent to him by a financial adviser which lists five companies (including Legal & General) as in the market for bulk buy out of benefits of schemes winding up.  The Applicants query whether any commission was paid by Legal & General and, if so, who was the recipient.  
79. Overall, the level of costs incurred and the time taken evidences wilful default on the part of HRTL. 

80. As it is impossible to establish the exact loss to the Plan consequent upon HRTL’s failings, HRTL should reimburse to the Plan sufficient funds to ensure that the Applicants (and other members) receive 100% of their entitlement, including indexation, under the Plan Rules.  In addition HRTL should reimburse the Applicants’ legal costs (totalling £19,916.79 as at 8 June 2007) and pay compensation for distress and inconvenience suffered.  Mr Pearn feels that he should be reimbursed for the time spent by him in dealing with this application (a total he says of 568 hours).  He suggests reimbursement at the rate of £20 per hour (£11,360), together with repayment of fees incurred with his IFA in dealing with the matter from 2001 to 2007 (£10,000).  
81. Mr Pearn submitted a further claim on his own behalf for financial loss suffered in consequence of the payment of his Plan benefits being delayed.  He contended that his Plan benefits ought to have been put into early payment from January 2004 on the grounds of ill health.  His normal retirement date was 13 January 2006 (his 65th birthday) and he therefore claimed arrears for the period January 2004 to January 2006, plus interest and investment losses (due to having to access capital during the period of non payment).  His claim was calculated on the basis that the winding up ought to have been completed by the end of 2003, with all fees incurred after that date refunded to the Plan together with reimbursement to the Plan of the investment losses claimed above.  
From HRTL:
82. There was no delay such as to amount to maladministration and the fees incurred are justified.  The reason why costs are much higher than estimated is that more time than envisaged was necessary in winding up the Plan which led to increased costs.  The time taken is not untypical and Mr Pearn’s actions and attitude added to both the costs and the time taken.  

83. A full schedule of all costs incurred, showing how the total of £633,052 is made up, has been produced.  That breakdown is supported by copies of all the invoices rendered.  In relation to those of HRTL’s and Punter Southall’s invoices which have been challenged, fully itemised breakdowns have been produced, setting out the tasks undertaken, the grade of personnel, the hourly charge, the time taken and the total amount charged.  In addition HRTL has produced, extracted from its files, a 20 page chronological list of correspondence (up to April 2005) with headline details to identify the nature and purpose of the correspondence.    

84. At the outset, when HRTL was first appointed, no project plan was in place as HRTL first had to identify the Plan’s assets (not all of which had been disclosed in previous accounts) and liabilities.  HRTL knew that Winterthur’s involvement was to cease: Winterthur was withdrawing at the end of 2001 from administering final salary schemes, which included the Plan.  Winterthur had appointed Charterhouse Consultancy Limited to manage and co-ordinate the winding up, with Winterthur remaining responsible for managing the Plan investments and the administration of the Plan until Punter Southall took over from Winterthur.  HRTL waited until Punter Southall was on board before developing a project plan as there would be little point in developing a plan without input from the Plan Administrator who would be responsible for taking the matter forward.  

85. The Plan actuary (previously supplied by Winterthur) had to be replaced as a valuation was due in 2001 and the then actuary confirmed in October 2001 that it would not be appropriate for him to undertake that work.  A new administrator was also required and HRTL felt, from first hand experience, that Punter Southall was best suited.  Punter Southall matched Winterthur’s costs for the 2001 valuation and Punter Southall’s hourly rates were not uncompetitive.  HRTL says that statement is based on its market knowledge and that, at the time, other companies identified by HRTL charged similar rates to Punter Southall.
86. The handover work between Winterthurs and Punter Southall was necessary: Collecting information was considered to be the most efficient and cost effective way of progressing the matter.  Although a new administrator was taking over, Wintherthur charged for its time.  Although Winterthur engaged Charterhouse to assist them with Carkeek and other final salary schemes, the Plan was only billed by Winterthur. 

87. Changes in personnel which are part of the normal operation of any business did not cause delays. About the delay in completing the Plan accounts as at 31 May 2002 HRTL produced a copy of its letter of 20 December 2002 to OPRA explaining that the accounts would be late due to difficulties in obtaining information from Winterthur. 

88. During the initial stages of a winding up, work is done on a time charge basis and estimates are supplied.  Towards the later stages, fixed fees are adopted to enable the winding up to conclude.  Punters estimated in July 2002, shortly after their appointment, fees of £72,100 which if VAT is added increases to £84,717).  However this excluded fees of Winterthur, PSFM, Psolve, the auditors and Punters fees for day to day administration which amounted to £34,825.  HRTL’s accrued fees at that time amounted to about £145,977. This compares with costs actually incurred which totalled £564,148.  

89. As at the beginning of August 2006 the following matters remained outstanding:

· Identifying and dealing with any liability in the bulk buy out relating to civil partnerships.

· Agreeing and signing off data schedule/benefit specification and benefits purchased with L&G.  Most of this work has been concluded but L&G have yet to begin to calculate the benefits secured.

· Informing members of their benefits/options with L&G and process settlement of two outstanding retirements within the bulk buy out.

· Discharging money purchase liabilities relating to Mr Pearn.  HRTL is in correspondence with Mr Pearn’s adviser on this issue.

· Providing data relating to the Financial Assistance Scheme.

· Concluding work in connection with the reference to me.  

· Various “housekeeping” activities, including signing off audited accounts for the year ended 31 May 2006 and the final accounts, settling final fees, closing the trustees’ bank account etc.

90. Four of those tasks (the first three and the fifth) had been completed by the end of May 2007.  In addition, the accounts for the year ended 31 May 2006 had been completed.  

91. Timescales are difficult to establish so it is difficult to say when the winding up will be complete but, putting aside the  application to me, L&G could start now the process of calculating benefits based on the assets they hold, which is likely to take up to three months.  Members will then need to be informed as to their benefits.  This would then leave only “housekeeping” matters, enabling the winding up to be concluded shortly thereafter.    

92. HRTL say that the only likely further fees to be incurred will be audit fees which can be met from funds held in the trustees’ bank account.  HRTL has decided, in the interests of Plan members and my decision to investigate this application, that further legal fees connection with this application will for the time being at least be borne by HRTL.  Also, HRTL does not propose to make any further charges for its work on the winding up.  

93. About the alleged discrepancy between the amount disinvested and the fees charged, HRTL pointed out that disinvestments would include other expenditure, apart from expenses incurred, for example, any transfer values paid.  In addition to amounts disinvested to meet fees there had been two individual transfers out in the year ended 31 May 2004 which totalled £73,688 (made up of an amount of £35,341 for one member and two amounts of £11,186 and £27,161 for another member).  In addition the Applicants’ expenses (as co trustees) for attending the trustees meetings totalled £3,476.70).  HRTL said that there were no unaccounted sums.  All assets and expenditure had been accounted for and audited (annually) with a final set of accounts to be produced (showing nil net assets) for the period beginning 1 June 2006. 

94. In response to a request to update Appendix 1 by setting out, against the estimated costs and completion date for each task shown, the actual costs charged by HRTL and Punter Southall and the actual time taken, HRTL says that such an exercise was “logistically difficult to achieve with any degree of accuracy because … the narrative on the time sheets and invoices … for that period cannot be neatly categorised under the various headings in the winding up plan.”  HRTL felt that the exercise would be “time consuming and rather artificial” and would only achieve a “best guess” estimate.  
CONCLUSIONS
95. As statutory independent trustee, HRTL had power to act unilaterally.  That said, the Applicants remained as co trustees.  Mr Pearn attended the trustees meetings and acted as chairman until that role was taken over by HRTL’s Mr Ross from the meeting on 15 October 2003.  Although Mr Matthews was on several occasions unable to attend the trustees meetings, he was invited to all the meetings and declined, at the meeting on 26 March 2002, an invitation to resign as a trustee.  
96. HRTL was appointed at the end of March 2001.  Although the Trustees Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 May 2001 were not available until the end of September 2001 it is at least arguable that HRTL as a matter of good practice should have sought advice on appointment as to whether, given the company’s liquidation and uncertainty as to the Plan’s long term future, a more conservative investment strategy ought immediately to have been adopted.  
97. Winding up was obviously a possibility from the outset, given the company’s liquidation, but, initially at least, the Plan’s funding position was thought to be healthy and it seems that the decision as to whether the Plan should continue or be wound up was not regarded as urgent.  
98. Psolve’s advice to switch investments was given at the end of October 2001. This was after the downturn in the markets due to the events of 11 September 2001 (which could not have been foreseen), and was on the basis that the Plan was to be wound up.  
99. The minutes of the trustees meetings do not indicate that, once a decision to wind up had been taken, the investment switch was necessary as a matter of urgency.  Mr Pearn did not indicate that he was uncomfortable with the timing, nor did Psolve advise that the switch should be undertaken urgently.  
100. I appreciate that the Applicants later feel that, because of falls in the stock market that, an earlier switch would have been to the Plan’s financial advantage.  However, it is easy to be wise after the event.  In the absence of any indication that, at the time, the switch (and/or the decision to wind up) was regarded as urgent, I cannot see that criticism can fairly be made of the switch not being carried out earlier.  I further note that immediately following HRTL’s appointment there were other matters to attend to such as the finalisation of the Trustees Report and Plan accounts for the year ended 31 May 2001 and the appointment of a new Plan Actuary and Administrator.  
101. As to the loss following the switch, the Applicants would or ought to have been aware that the Plan’s value is dependent on the underlying investments, the value of which can rise and fall.  I note that the Applicants point to the substantial loss in value suffered by the Plan between June 2001 (when an actuarial valuation of the Plan as at 1 June 2001 gave the market value of the Plan assets as £2,711,154), and April 2002, when the Plan’s assets value had fallen by some £819,000 to £1,982,000.  I have little doubt that reflected worldwide investment market falls following the events of 11 September 2001.  
102. The Applicants have said that they would not have supported the decision to wind up the Plan had they known then what they now know about the costs and time involved.  That is a comment made with hindsight. In any event HRTL, as a statutory independent trustee, could have gone ahead with winding up the Plan even if the Applicants had not been in agreement.  

103. The timing of the change in Plan Administrator was unfortunate and I can see that it is likely to have caused extra expense for the Plan, particularly as Winterthur charged for its work in handing over to Punter Southall.  But I cannot say that Winterthur was not entitled to charge for work carried out in handing over its responsibilities as Plan Administrator.  
104. Neither will the change have helped with the time taken: Punter Southall was new to the Plan and so had to familiarise itself with all matters relating to the Plan whereas Winterthur would have had a certain degree of knowledge about the Plan and so should have been able to have completed certain steps in less time and perhaps with less research than required by Punter Southall.  But as I have said, HRTL is not responsible for the fact that a new Plan Administrator was required.  
105. I turn to whether Punter Southall was the right replacement (as opposed, for example, to Charterhouse as recommended by Winterthur). Simply because Punter Southall is a large, central London based company does not necessarily makes Punter Southall the wrong choice.  HRTL had worked with Punter Southall previously and considered, based on that experience, that Punter Southall was an appropriate replacement.  Mr Pearn chaired the trustees meeting (held on 1 November 2001) at which the appointment of Punter Southall as the new Plan Administrator was agreed although I recognise that, even if he had disagreed, HRTL could still have imposed its choice. HRTL has also said that Punter Southall’s hourly rates were not uncompetitive.   Hourly rates are however but half the picture, the other half being whether the total time spent is reasonable.  
106. I can see nothing in Principle 6.3 of the Code which required, prior to Punter Southall’s appointment, quotations from alternative suppliers to be obtained.  Principle 2.6 is more relevant but Mr Pearn who was a party to the decision to appoint Punter Southall was not himself bound by that Code and did not pursue the point at the time.  In any event Principle 2.6 also stops short of making alternative quotations a requirement.  
107. I can see why the Applicants might feel they were marginalised. HRTL was the statutory independent trustee with power to act unilaterally.  At the outset HRTL was happy to work with the Applicants as co trustees but it is clear that differences of opinion did arise.  I can understand the Applicants’ concern about their removal as co- signatories to cheques but Punter Southall had been unwilling to undertake further work whilst its invoices submitted in respect of work earlier done remained unpaid.  HRTL took the decision, despite the Applicants’ reservations about Punter Southall’s charges, to pay them.  Such a decision at least allowed matters to move on but HRTL cannot be surprised that the Applicants and indeed myself would look closely to see whether, in the absence of the Applicants, proper scrutiny could be given to the submitted accounts before they were authorised for payment.  
108. As to the decision to transfer the Plan assets to a bulk annuity with Legal & General, the need to secure benefits was discussed in some detail at the trustees meeting on 15 October 2003.  From the minutes it seems that Legal & General had been identified some time earlier as the likely insurer.  The minutes indicate that other insurers would not be prepared to quote and a decision was taken at that meeting to secure buy out rates with Legal & General as soon as possible.  There is no indication (from the minutes) that Mr Pearn (who was present at the meeting, Mr Matthews having sent his apologies) had any concerns about Legal & General’s selection.  Although it appears (from the letter dated 30 July 2004 from financial advisers consulted by Mr Pearn) that Mr Pearn may have later made some enquiries about alternative providers there is nothing to show that he suggested to his co trustees that Legal & General was not the only or the most suitable provider.  HRTL has confirmed that no commission was paid by Legal & General to any party.  
109. The total fees incurred in winding up a scheme of this size (the trustees report and financial statements for the year ended 31 May 2003 show 10 pensioner members and 13 leavers with preserved pensions) do seem very high: they amount to nearly £600,000 and have absorbed 25% of the Plan’s assets.  That said, size of scheme is not always the determining factor: a small scheme may be more complex and create more difficulties in winding up than a much larger scheme.  Of further concern is the discrepancy between the actual costs incurred and the estimated costs, the actual costs (excluding some of the later costs waived by HRTL) being about twice as much as originally estimated.  
110. At my request, HRTL produced copies of all (with the exception of Bishop Fleming’s invoice for £998.75 referred to below) the invoices debited to the Plan and which make up the total fees and expenses debited.  With that one exception, all the charges debited to the Plan are supported by invoices.  
111. The bulk of the expenses relates to HRTL’s and Punter Southall’s fees.  I deal with those, including the sample invoices below, but I start by considering the fees charged by others involved in various capacities with the Plan.  
Solicitors 
112. HRTL has authorised recovery from the Scheme of the costs of legal advice given to HRTL in connection with a complaint that it has not properly discharged its duties. It does seem to me that this is an expense which has been incurred by HRTL in its own right rather than in its capacity as a Trustee of the scheme. It is for HRTL to resolve whether the amount involved was reasonable. For my part I determine that this is not an expense which should be borne by the Scheme.   
113. The  invoice for legal advice given by Garrets from 13 November 2001 to 20 May 2002 was sought in connection with the proposed winding up of the Plan.  I see no reason to interfere with the amount charged, which the Applicants have not in any event challenged.  Nor do I have the same objection as that set out in the preceding paragraph to such a charge being met by the Scheme. 
Auditors 

114. The fees of Bishop Fleming which total £8,724.38, relate to the audit of the accounts for 2002, 2003, 2004 and 2005.  Copies of all the invoices aside from the final invoice in the sum of £998.75 have been produced.  I do not regard the fees charged as unreasonable. 
115. Grant Thornton were the Plan auditors before Bishop Fleming.  After taking account of a credit note for the full amount has been issued, the net fees authorised by HRTL  were £3,525.  Those fees relate to the auditing of the Plan accounts for the years ended 31 May 2000 and 2001.  The charges work out, per audit, at somewhat less than those of Bishop Fleming for similar work in later years.  Again I see no reason to interfere.
PSFM

116. These fees consist of a single invoice in the sum of £6,168.75 (£5,250 before VAT) for sourcing and arranging non profit deferred annuities with Legal & General and other matters.    Bearing in mind the advice that only one company was available I am not persuaded that Punter Southall should have needed to incur these charges which I note were made by an associated company of Punter Southall.  
HRTL

117. HRTL has produced invoices accounting for the total sum of its charges.  The invoices themselves do not include a detailed narrative, but refer simply to fees for professional services rendered with dates.  HRTL has supplied, in some cases, printouts of its time records, which show the task undertaken, the identity of the person carrying out that work, the time spent and the charge out rate applied, giving the cost to the Plan.  In respect of other invoices, a “Statement of Activity” has been produced which sets out similar information.  I agree with the Applicants that the format of the invoices, without supplementary information, does not make it easy to assess and evaluate the fees charged.  It is telling that HRTL itself says that the narrative on the timesheets and invoices cannot be neatly categorised under the various headings in the wind-up plan.  The value of providing a schedule of the fees likely to be incurred at each itemised stage is unclear if fees for payment are presented in a way which does not enable comparisons against the estimates indicated.  It would have been far better if fees charged could have been cross referenced to those estimated.  

118. HRTL’s letter to the Applicants dated 5 April 2001 set out that the fees were by reference to the time spent by HRTL’s employees with the then current hourly rates (excluding VAT) of £280-£230 for a director/solicitor, £190-£130 for a consultant, £80 for an assistant consultant and £40 for an administrator.  Mr Ross’ hourly rate is £290.  I do not regard those rates as excessive or out of line with industry practice generally. 
119. With reference to HRTL’s (draft) letter of 9 May 2003 to Mr Pearn, it seems that HRTL acknowledged that it would not be reasonable for the Plan to bear the costs of the two emergency meetings and it was proposed that such costs be shared between HRTL and Punter Southall.  I have identified as mentioned below a credit note issued by Punter Southall for £2,541.52 which corresponds with the amount mentioned (£2,165 plus VAT).  But I cannot trace any credit given by HRTL in respect of the share it agreed to bear.  I make an appropriate direction below.

120. I have seen no evidence to substantiate Mr Ross’s statement (see paragraph 45) that disproportionate time and effort was spent in securing reductions (totalling £12,000) in fees being charged to the Scheme.  Despite what HRTL says, that remark does suggest a somewhat blasé approach to ensuring that the Scheme obtained value for money.  
121. The wind up has taken a great deal longer than HRTL estimated and has cost the Scheme a great deal more.  HRTL says that the reason is that more time was necessary then had been envisaged.  HRTL also says that this is not untypical, qualifying that remark by saying that it was a reference to the difficulty in providing accurate estimates of how long the winding up would take and the overall costs.  But that must be a common problem when faced with a scheme winding up and one of which HRTL should have the experience to overcome.  HRTL’s failure to estimate with any degree of accuracy the time likely to be taken and the costs that would be incurred, suggests to me that either there was a preventable error in the original estimates or that a greater number of hours have been spent on this work than was reasonable or possibly both. 
122. I turn now to the sample invoices.  

122.1. Invoice No 10010100
122.1..1. Despite what HRTL now says, its letter of 4 April 2003 and summary essentially amounts to an admission that additional costs were incurred due to the late completion of the Trustees Report and Accounts for the year ended 31 May 2002.    

122.1..2. Mr Pearn’s handwritten note of the meeting on 19 March 2003 records that HRTL apparently agreed to make a deduction of £3,000 from its costs.  I have no reason to believe that Mr Pearn’s note is not a true record of what was agreed.    
122.1..3. Taking that and the letter of 4 April 2003 into account, my conclusion is that HRTL should make a deduction of £3,000 from its fees.  
122.2. Invoice No 10010461
122.2..1. The timesheet supplied by HRTL in support of this invoice shows some 46 entries.  Of those, Mr Pearn has queried only one, the charge of £367.50 plus VAT for postponing and rearranging a trustees meeting due to HRTL’s director’s inability, for personal reasons, to attend the meeting originally scheduled.  

122.2..2. I agree with Mr Pearn that, in the circumstances, it was inappropriate for HRTL to charge to the Plan the costs involved in cancelling and rescheduling the meeting.  
122.2..3. HRTL initially at least shared my view: I note in its draft letter to Mr Pearn dated 9 May 2003 HRTL agreed to credit the £367.50 charge.  Mr Pearn’s note of the meeting records that HRTL had agreed a credit of £500.  I take the view that HRTL ought to honour its agreement but given that the actual charge was less, I have limited my direction to that lesser amount. 
122.3. Invoice No 10014386
122.3..1. HRTL’s timesheet shows 24 entries, a number of which relate to the investigation by HRTL of the concerns raised by Mr Pearn.  Mr Pearn’s suggestion that it would be “quite wrong” for the Plan to incur the costs of rectifying the situation, presupposes that overcharging has occurred.  To the extent that the concerns raised by Mr Pearn were not justified there can be no complaint about HRTL charging for their time in investigating the matter.   
122.4. Invoice No 10014732
122.4..1. This invoice includes further work done in investigating the matters raised by Mr Pearn.  In the absence of a finding that such concerns were in the main, justified, I am not inclined to interfere.  
122.5. Invoice No 10015180
122.5..1. Having investigated Mr Pearn’s concerns, HRTL appointed a director, Mr Ross, to take charge of the Plan and its winding up. HRTL then charged higher charges in consequence of Mr Ross taking responsibility.  
122.5..2. The level of personnel involved should normally be dictated by factors such as the size and complexity of the particular scheme and the particular tasks undertaken with delegation of work to more junior personnel as appropriate. Clients should not be charged a premium if HRTL chooses to use its senior staff to do work which could as effectively by those who are less highly paid. 
122.5..3. Senior personnel were already engaged on the Plan.  From the outset a director (Mr Marsh) had taken overall responsibility for the Plan.  Although the trustees meeting on 15 September 2003 was attended by Mr Ross and Mr Barker, both of whom charged for their time in preparing for and attending the meeting, previous meetings had also been attended by two (senior) representatives from HRTL.  Having recently assumed responsibility for the Plan I can see why Mr Ross wanted to attend the meeting on 15 September 2003.  Mr Ross’ higher charge out rate (£290 per hour) meant that costs increased but given that the Plan would, absent his involvement have been charged for two senior HRTL personnel to attend the meetings, I do not regard the higher costs generated by Mr Ross’ involvement as significant.  
122.6. Invoice No 10016505
122.6..1. I do not regard it as unusual for legal queries to crop up from time to time and I see no objection to HRTL seeking legal advice, as and when required, from its own in house solicitor.
122.7. Invoice No 10018992
122.7..1. HRTL has explained that the charge queried relates to the preparation of a costed project plan and subsequent updating of that plan.  I see no reason to doubt that such work was actually undertaken and the amount charged does not appear unreasonable.  
122.8. Invoice No 10019666
122.8..1. The Statement of Activity contains an error in that although the correct hourly charge and time spent are shown, the total charge for the work undertaken has not been calculated correctly.  It is a straightforward clerical error and I can see no reason to dispute the total charge.  
122.9. Invoice No 1002116
122.9..1. HRTL has explained the incorrect reference to a trustees meeting in October 2004, which explanation I accept.  
122.10.   Invoice No 10020940
122.10..1. Again, I accept HRTL’s explanation that a clerical error was made and that the name of the member concerned was incorrectly recorded.  
123. Overall, my examination has not revealed evidence of overcharging to the extent claimed by the Applicants.  I also bear in mind that HRTL does not propose making further charges.  
Punter Southall 

124. Punter Southall’s fees total £234,777.89 and are set out in 28 invoices covering the period from Punter Southall’s appointment to completion of the winding up, which has yet to be achieved.  As to the Applicants’ query as to why HRTL has paid its own and Punter Southall’s fees in advance (what the Applicants term “arbitrarily calculated forecasted costs”) I think the answer lies in what HRTL says, which I accept, about the advantage of costs in the latter stages of a winding up being on a fixed fee, rather than a time spent basis, to give certainty and to enable the winding up to be completed.     
125. Punter Southall’s fees include 2 invoices (£5,875 and £14,981.25) relating to investment advice given by Psolve.  I do not criticise HRTL for seeking specialist investment advice and indeed Mr Pearn was a party to the decision to do so.   It is difficult to say that the first fee (for the advice given at the end of October 2001) represents an overcharge when the fee was agreed in advance (£5,000 plus VAT of £875). 

126. The breakdown of the second invoice is as follows:

Implementation of investment strategy


£6,000

Asset transfer: Establishing loss to Plan 


£2,500

Overseeing transfer





£2,000

Trustees meetings (10 September and 26 March) 

Preparation and attendance 




  £ 750

Statement of Investment Principles 


£1,500

Subtotal





          £12,750

VAT







£2,231.25

Total fee





          £14,981.25

127. It cost the Plan £2,500 (plus VAT) to establish the loss caused to the Plan by Winterthur’s delay in switching investments.  However, Winterthur did, when the matter was raised by Mr Pearn, acknowledge its delay and agreed to credit the Plan with the additional units that would have been purchased (at a cost of £15,618.13) had the switch been made in March 2002.  In addition Winterthur made a further credit of £5,180.58 in respect of Psolve’s and HRTL’s time in resolving the matter. Thus the charges made by Psolve (and HRTL) in respect of this aspect of the matter have been balanced by the credit made by Winterthur.  On that basis, the Plan has suffered no loss in that respect. 
128. Punter Southall’s invoices do not include any detailed narrative as to the work undertaken in relation to the amount charged.  The invoices typically simply refer to “work in respect of advice to the Trustees” for an identified period.  Initially invoices seem to have been issued every six months but from August 2003 invoices were issued on a more frequent basis.  From the beginning of 2004 monthly invoices became the norm although towards the end of that year invoicing was less frequent.  Latterly (from April 2005) invoices have included a breakdown showing “Normal Administration”; “Additional Administration”; “Other charges” and VAT.  Without any indication of the work undertaken that does not assist much.  

129. However, detailed breakdowns in respect of the invoices which Mr Pearn has queried have been produced.  In addition, breakdowns in respect of invoice number 126737 dated 12 December 2002 in the sum of £20,591.87 and invoice number 127315 dated 31 December 2002 were also, at my request supplied, those being the highest value invoices. Both invoices cover six month periods in contrast to other invoices which could itself explain the higher amounts. 
130. The breakdowns identify the tasks undertaken and the overall cost for each task.  The breakdowns are not as helpful as those supplied by HRTL for its own fees in that Punter Southall’s breakdowns do not show the personnel employed in relation to a particular task, the time taken and the individual’s hourly charge out rate.  That said the breakdowns do contain a fair amount of detail as to what work has been undertaken and the cost to the Plan for such work.

131. The credit in respect of the emergency meetings was taken into account: the schedule prepared by HRTL shows a credit note (128374) for £2,541.52 in respect of Punter Southall’s costs in respect of those meetings.  

132. I turn now to the sample invoices.  
132.1. Invoice No 126737
132.1..1. The breakdown of this invoice, a copy of which the Applicants have seen, shows a total of 25 entries, divided between 5 headings: work in respect of trustees meetings (£5,130 net of VAT); work relating to the installation of the Plan (£4,690); actuarial advice (£2,025); general administration and consultancy £4,440); work in respect of the wind up of the Plan (£1,240).   
132.1..2.  The last item (£610 of which related to drafting a winding up plan) was fairly modest.  The major items of expenditure were work in relation to the two trustees meetings (held on 28 January and 26 March 2002); work relating to the installation of the Plan (obtaining member data from Winterthur, obtaining copies of previous benefit statements issued to members, setting up a database, completing Pensions Act 1995 checklist, obtaining copies of documents and chasing Charterhouse and Winterthur for information; these totalled £1,850 net of VAT in all.  A further £2,500 was charged for drafting and updating a datacleanse plan, establishing a full membership list using information supplied from Winterthur and establishing annuities in payment.  There was a further charge of £1,450 in respect of correspondence and estimation of a transfer value for Mr Pearn.

132.1..3. I bear in mind that the invoice covers a six month period and includes work done in the normal course of administration of the Plan and not just in relation to the winding up. 

132.1..4. The Applicants’ concerns seem to hinge upon the time taken.  They have been provided with copies of the breakdown but they have not pointed to particular items as representing unnecessary work, nor have they identified tasks for which the time taken seems excessive.  Punter Southall’s stated hourly charge out rates do not appear to me to be unreasonable.  
132.1..5. In the light of the above, I am not inclined to interfere.  

132.2. Invoice No 127315
132.2..1. The breakdown shows 28 separate items of work done under the same five headings.  Although costs in relation to the first item (work in respect of trustees meetings) total £9,135 a credit of £5,820 is shown in respect of the full costs in relation to the two emergency meetings on 1 July and 13 August 2002.  The upshot is that the Plan has only been charged for the trustees meeting which took place on 10 September 2002 and for preparation and issue of agenda packs for the meeting scheduled for 7 January 2003.  
132.2..2. Other significant items on that invoice include £2,775 in respect of the reconciliation of benefits and data held for each member; reconciliation of the initial NICO listings received and preparation of a response to NICO with queries; and correspondence with Charterhouse regarding “no further liability” members.  Day to day correspondence and telephone calls were charged at £1,610 and establishment and maintenance of the Plan cashbooks and disinvestment of funds accounted for £1,695.  Preparation of the financial statements for the year end cost £3,250.   

132.2..3. Work billed specifically in relation to the winding up totalled £4,070, made up of correspondence with Charterhouse and Winterthur (£505); obtaining and checking buy out quotations in respect of deferred pensioners (£950), seeking advice from HRTL’s legal team re equalisation of GMPs (£240); correspondence with Winterthur and Charterhouse re benefits bought out for pensioners and additional costs of buying out all pension increases and spouse’s pensions (£1,000); fact finding and correspondence re Plan investment (£680); and draft and review of changes to member announcement (£695).  
132.2..4.  The Applicants have not challenged specific entries but are concerned that, overall, the costs are too high.  I find nothing untoward in the work undertaken and the cost charged on this invoice.  Again I bear in mind that the invoice covers a six month period which means that the costs, on a monthly basis, work out at just under £3,000.   
132.3. Invoice No 131806
132.3..1. The Applicants have not made detailed objections on this and the following invoice although generally they feel that the time spent and the amounts charged are too high.  

132.3..2. This invoice covers two months only, August and September 2004.  The breakdown shows 13 items under the headings of general administration and consultancy (2 items totalling £1,970) and winding up of the Plan (11 items, totalling £11,125).  That said, the breakdown includes similar items to those previously identified (for example, preparation for a trustees meeting and general management and day to day correspondence relating to the Plan) which had, in previous breakdowns, appeared under different headings.  

132.3..3. The breakdown includes continuing work on the GMP reconciliation (£800); looking into four member queries raised following a recent announcement (£1,770); preparation for a trustees meeting on 14 September 2004 (which was later cancelled) (£1,950); and correspondence with HRTL and others re female equalisation (£1,200); management and day to day correspondence and telephone calls (£1,400); plus reviewing PSFM’s recommendation and formulating advice to the trustees (£2,450).
132.3..4. Although the invoice is high, particularly as it covers two months only, it appears that a number of issues did arise which required attention.  I do not find the amounts charged unreasonable.  
132.4. Invoice No 132397
132.4..1. This invoice relates to the three month period, from 1 October to 31 December 2004.  The breakdown shows 14 items (under no headings), all of which cross refer to items set out on a crystallisation fee schedule, a copy of which has been provided.  
132.4..2. That schedule sets out the remaining tasks necessary for Punter Southall to undertake in order to complete the winding up, with a budget for each task, the amount billed to 31 December 2004 and the amount remaining.  The schedule shows some 22 tasks with a total budget of £64,480 or which sum £29,470 had been billed (to 31 December 2004) with £35,010 of the budget remaining. 
132.4..3. The invoice includes a charge for correspondence in relation to data for certain named members (£3,845) which corresponds with provision in the schedule for expenditure in that amount for the completion of “non GMP data issues”.  The budget for completion of the GMP reconciliation is shown on the schedule as £1,730 of which £1,565 was included on the invoice for correspondence with NICO about various named members’ GMPs.  Reviewing new summary of data and benefits provided by L&G is charged at £2,315 against a budget of £3,000 in the schedule for agreeing final data and resolving benefits structure queries.  Preparation of the Plan accounts for the year ended 31 May 2004 is charged at £3,500.  

132.4..4. There is also a charge of £8,470, for “Project management including communication with PSFM, meeting with [HRTL] on 6 October (with preparation and review of note), queries from [HRTL] about age admission and death benefits, advice note about buyout, confirmation of Winterthur’s disinvestment requirements and miscellaneous items”.  The schedule shows a budget of £12,000 for “Project management and updating HRTL” and allows for 5 meetings with HRTL at £1,400 each plus other items such as responding to queries from HRTL and giving advice.  
132.4..5. At first sight it appeared that the charge of £8,470 might have been in relation to one meeting only.  However further information requested and supplied by HRTL and Punter Southall clarified that £2,584 (made up of £1,504 for preparation, £917 for attendance and £163 for reviewing and commenting on the meeting note) had been charged in respect of the meeting on 6 October 2004.  

132.4..6. Although the cost for that meeting had exceeded the budget of £1,400 per meeting there had been at that stage a number of winding up issues to report on as well as considering the next steps in the winding up.  The meeting had been productive and instead of the projected five meetings only four meetings had in fact been necessary (which, in addition to the 6 October 2004 meeting, took place on 3 March, 14 March and 17 March 2005, with Punter Southall waiving £1,500 of its costs in connection with that last meeting).  Taking into account the explanations provided by HRTL and the fact that fees were waived by Punter Southall I am not inclined to interfere further.  

133. In summary, Mr Pearn has identified a number of discrepancies which have resulted in funds being restored to the Plan.  I have found some further instances where I do not consider charges ought to have been made.  But overall, and despite all that the Applicants say, I am not convinced that there was general overcharging to the extent claimed by the Applicants.  Mr Pearn has closely scrutinised all of the fees but has been able to put forward only a limited number of challenges.  Although, I accept that, after September 2003 he was not, as promised, provided with copies of the various fee accounts, a schedule of invoices with copies was furnished to the Applicants’ representative (in August 2006) during the course of my investigation.  The Applicants have therefore been able to scrutinise all the invoices.  They have not drawn to my attention further significant apparent discrepancies or examples of possible overcharging.

134. Against that background, I am unable to agree with the Applicants’ assertion that I would find a similar level of overcharging to that already identified were I to consider each and every invoice.  Whilst it is of course possible that some further overcharging might be uncovered, I do not regard the likelihood of that as sufficient to persuade me to embark on such a course.   It follows that I am not prepared to adopt the approach suggested by the Applicants and apply a reduction to all invoices proportionate to the level of overcharging found in the sample invoices examined.  
135. Neither am I prepared to follow the other course suggested by the Applicants, namely that invoices relating to a period after the end of 2003 should be ignored, on the basis of the Applicants’ submission that the winding up should have been completed by then.  I deal below with time taken but even if I agreed that the Plan should have been wound up within two years it would not necessarily follow that fees incurred after that period should be written off: the work to which such invoices related would still have needed to have been done, albeit at an earlier stage.  
136. Some apparently significant shortfalls have been easily explained, for example, the discrepancy of some £72,000 between expenses debited and amounts disinvested is accounted for by transfer payments made in respect of two Plan members.  
137. I do not accept the proposition that a trustee who charges too much for its own services can seek the protection of an exoneration clause.

138. Clause 18 is widely drafted and the first limb protects a trustee (in this case, HRTL) from responsibility, chargeability, or liability for any loss of, depreciation in, or default upon any of the Plan assets, except in case of wilful default on the trustee’s part.  The necessary (my emphasis) costs of running the Plan are payable from the Plan assets, so such costs, if inflated, can be said to represent a loss to or depreciation in the Plan assets and so within Clause 18.  Although wilful default has tended to be interpreted as involving some element of dishonesty, I take the view that it is a sufficiently wide term to include the presentation of invoices which cannot be substantiated.
139. I note that although generally supportive of exoneration clauses, at least in relation to lay trustees, the Courts have questioned the extent to which a professional trustee ought to be able to exclude liability.  In Armitage v Nurse [1998] Ch 241 Millet LJ said (at 256):

“ …it must be acknowledged that the view is widely held that these clauses have gone too far, and that trustees who charge for their services and who, as professional men, would not dream of excluding liability for ordinary professional negligence should not be able to rely on a trustee exemption clause excluding liability for gross negligence.”
140. Since the events which have given rise to this complaint Parliament has provided some measure of control over the fees charged by Independent Trustees. The Pensions Regulator has a statutory obligation to maintain a register of independent trustees.  Only independent trustees on that register can be appointed by the Liquidator of a Company.  A pre requisite of registration is that the Independent Trustee must agree to fees and costs being scrutinised by an independent adjudicator and to be bound by his or her final adjudication (see Regulation 3(e)(i) of the Occupational Pension Schemes (Independent Trustee) Regulations 2005).  There is yet no provision for the appointment or qualification of such an adjudicator.  I agree with the Applicants that the position is less than satisfactory.  
141. I turn now to the time taken to wind up the Plan.  Some months short of six years after it was resolved to wind up the Plan, the winding up has yet to be completed.  That seems a long time but wind-ups, even of relatively small schemes, can often take far longer than at first envisaged.  

142. That said, in my view by the summer of 2002 the winding up had started to drift. By then Punter Southall had been on board for some 18 months, It is apparent from HRTL’s letter dated 18 July 2002 (to Punter Southall) that HRTL was concerned as to the lack of progress following the last trustees meeting which had taken place on 26 March 2002.  That is further evidenced by the two emergency trustee meetings which then followed.  Punter Southall itself admitted, at the emergency meeting on 1 July 2002, that its service had been lacking and certain concessions as to fees were made.  Although HRTL must bear some responsibility for failing to ensure that Punter Southall’s service delivery was acceptable, I accept that HRTL did address the situation with Punter Southall and fee concessions were made.  I regard those steps as adequate to deal with the situation that had by then arisen.  
143. Were there other instances of delay? Mr Pearn wrote his letter of 27 June 2003 to HRTL expressing concerns as to progress and in response HRTL appointed one of its directors, Mr Ross, to take over responsibility for the Plan.  Although the Applicants point out that it was not until September 2003 that Mr Ross dealt substantively with Mr Pearn’s letter, Mr Ross, in acknowledging Mr Pearn’s letter on 4 July 2003, did mention his busy schedule for the month ahead and that he would be away until August such that September would be the earliest date for any meeting.  I do not regard that as unreasonable.  I see no reason to speculate as to what would have happened but for Mr Pearn’s intervention.  
144. I do not agree that there was a delay in obtaining the actuarial valuation as at 1 June 2001.  In particular I do not see that this could have been available in July 2001.   The last valuation undertaken was as at 1 June 1998.  A triennial valuation was due as at 1 June 2001 the Plan, at the time, being subject to the MFR introduced by the Pensions Act 1995 (sections 56 to 61) and the Occupational Pension Schemes (Minimum Funding Requirement and Actuarial Valuations) Regulations 1996.  Generally speaking, valuations are required at three year intervals and Regulation 10(1)(ii) of the aforementioned Regulations provides that the report shall be obtained before the end of the period of one year beginning with the effective date of the valuation.  Thus the valuation as at 1 June 2001 had to be obtained by 31 May 2002, as was the case.  

145. That said, I note that there was a failure, notified to OPRA in January 2003, to complete audited (annual) accounts for the Plan for the year ended 31 May 2002 within seven months of that date (ie by the end of December 2002).  But the audited accounts were signed off later in January 2003 and I do not see that such delay had any material affect.   
146. The Applicants have laid much of the blame for delay at Mr Barker’s door.  I do not think it is productive to single out individuals for particular criticism.  HRTL is a corporate entity and responsibility for any individual executive’s shortcomings rests with the Company.  
147. Although the Applicants say that HRTL has put forward no explanation as to why the Plan could not have been wound up by the end of 2003, neither have the Applicants set out why they feel that timetable ought to have been achievable. They have not challenged the time taken from the basis that certain steps were unnecessarily undertaken, I am not convinced that a two year turnaround was realistic.  
148. On a number of occasions, HRTL has apologised for not providing an update sooner.  However a failure to give an update promptly does not of itself evidence underlying delay – matters might have moved on in the interim even if members were not kept informed.    

149. I have been unable to identify (and the Applicants have not pointed to any) other periods of inactivity or delay.  The invoices submitted by HRTL and Punter Southall were, generally on a monthly basis in arrears, detailing the work carried out in the preceding month.  This provides some evidence that work in relation to the Plan has been fairly continuous.  That does not mean that I am satisfied that at all times progress has been as expeditious as possible but that is not the test: the test is whether there has been delay such as to amount to maladministration.  
150. As to completion of the winding up, HRTL says that it is committed to concluding the winding up process as quickly as possible, which I hope can now be achieved.  
151. As to legal costs, I do not see that this application turned on any particular point of law and I make no order for the reimbursement of legal fees incurred by the Applicants in instructing solicitors to deal with this matter.  

152. Nor am I persuaded that it was reasonable for Mr Pearn to need to seek ongoing advice from his IFA in connection with this application.  Thus I make no direction as to the repayment of his IFA’s fees.   

153. Whilst I recognise that Mr Pearn has spent many hours of his own time in dealing with this matter, I am not generally prepared to order compensation on the basis of an individual’s time spent.  
154. I make no order in relation to Mr Pearn’s claim for financial loss suffered by him in consequence of delay in putting into payment his Plan benefits.  First, that claim is calculated on the basis that costs debited to the Plan after then end of 2003 should be restored, as the winding up should be then have been completed.  For the reasons set out above, I am unable to adopt that approach.  The claim also includes the making good of investment losses which  I was unable to say were suffered in consequence of maladministration.  Further, it is based on Mr Pearn, whose normal retirement date was 13 January 2006, being entitled to retire early (in January 2004) on the grounds of ill health, a claim outside the scope of this application.  
DIRECTIONS

155. HRTL shall deduct from its fees the sums of £3,000, £367.50, £2,541.52, £6,168.75 and £7,981.38 as referred to above.   

DAVID LAVERICK

Pensions Ombudsman

6 August 2007
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